FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/2/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

of white and a second	ri-22 2021 CLERK
and the state of t	the designation of the second
والمساورة والمواجعة المساورة والمساورة والمساو	Erom: Minnie Thomas Appellant
edit mendira Menda angkan enaman sebagai. ***********************************	Earbrech Thomas 2 Sceedish Hospital Case 4 809183
	Rej Motion La neview l'he dense de motion Lor Meconsidenation
mand di sentrata anno di sentra sentr	Destain Lani
alatek esteri ili dalat diplomatika proper deli attibuta esperiorista professione della seconda della seconda s Seconda diplomatika diplomatika diplomatika esperiorista esperiorista diplomatika esperiorista esperiorista d	
nndeller gette en til å det undek staten stormede en gregillingen. I med state freger en til se til staten stormede en staten fre en til staten stormede staten staten staten state	Coppeals, drop body on " The Count of
	A STAD
Emissi alahaji dhadaya Emissi alahajar Pankasi alahajar webila pansi alahajar	
tanar ata dipunjung salah beritanah dana dibung bilana asalah salah bilan	
" "Species".	
too aarond iyo - maharahadayama bandi darib haadayiiya aa ahaa dhadaa	

FILED 11/4/2021 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

MINNIE THOMAS,) No. 80918-1-I		
Appellant,) }		
v. SWEDISH HOSPITAL, Respondent.	ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION		

Appellant filed a motion for reconsideration of the court's September 27, 2021 opinion. The panel has determined the motion should be denied. Now, therefore, it is hereby

ORDERED that the appellant's motion for reconsideration is denied.

FOR THE PANEL:

Verellan J

Suest the about onder to be reviewed

COURT OF APPEALS DIVI

the control of the production of the control of the	LOURT OF APPENUS
Spraidigky politikalise ja ja kalikilistä eri Trävian kieri kunderiin istalleri sistä.	Division
nggyandhish ((Oppg)assy ritings) an Sangana ngaparanga dan kanta ay ara ara ar at at ar a tirana tan ar	# PRINT TO THE PRINT OF THE PRI
an wife ago menul dala manyana ana adampin dalambin aga na apip anto naliyat na dilabaha pidaka 1 salah	MITHURES THOMUS
and the state of t	Appenent Casener 809 18-1
	And a state of the
der in a suitable de la constant de	Swears14 Hospital
	- Waspaal tal
haripe ya et erishindiyen 1969, mayariya iyo gartarafiin debifi (satis i arafir i dibifikin tarafir i	D - 12 D
enveltable in the visitories between the best desired to the second of t	Re: MOTTON FOR 12 REUTEW DE
المؤلف والمساولة	ORDER DENYPRE ANOTEOPS FOR
akalanksja rigij mennikusligspijanisma ve virospa kano om - vik - den domastikolikilikino sano	RECONSTDENDIZON
بدون مدود عاملیونامدود به دارورمدادیون محمومیدیات	The state of the s
Apriled step is couldn't	Ty primie Thomas ampetitioning the
where the states along along and analysis of the states of	Count or appears to review the
affects artification in general service and all the all the all the actions are an extension of the action of the	under densing the motion that was
Non-kappyka dalipiyaka kirkira da kappyka kappyka kirkira kappyka dalipiya kappyka dalipiya kappyka kappyka ka	filed to "Reconsider" the decision to
Medition as allows a publisher more about Exception to the desirability and Medition by well as the Medition of the second to the second	atting the trial count's " Untain"
	Lecision to 5 munt the detentions air
)	Ventair Summany Judgement on 11-21-19.
paper againg a grade process communication and communication and the shreethouse the communication of the communication and communication	The newson Lor This request to Review
	This Denied conden to Beconsider is
	as four si
energy access discounts of pool an electric series with the second section of the original to the second section of the original section of the original section of the original section of the second section of the original	1. Trepart Submitted la the
and the side of a copyrigation for the side of the sid	1. I ceppenant, Submitted to the
	Count of appeals, in my opening
describes autores activa trasse une professione reneaurante accidental describer accidental describer desc	

Ť

brief and motion to leconsider Trelubable evidence: 10 Support in facture claim that the Julye: Under condence then the hearing on 10-18-2019 zous bused an Deceillar False, puripulated and fuested 5 tatements in sonder to curringly dang By motion handi Continuance 11 if som aller 11-18 2019 La Lite a declaration Iron my Chosen Designated medical ex Pent by 12-30-2019: 40" prevent: the Laise Count from Secution the dependent's forotton Lor a Summary Judgement 8 ven the facil och a medical expent's declaration. To clusing The perition petitions The Count of appears to preveni the decision to ben motion ton ai Reconsideration, because it was been un. fair" for the this count to 'Denj fore the Might to Castinue on their fo seen justice over the detendants Theyer, cauch and Inhumanic action 5 designe medicus cure: in the

Romengency points war my complaints Ot Severe Chest pains and difficult breathing The Iniai count "Knew: Ihah the detendant's action to my complaints Hen Lan below the applicable standard of medical cane for Severe chest pains and dillicust breathing when the detendant Standard of medical care was to tell me to just so been home and do what even' Thousandoing to stay alive / sunvive Theretore, the fried Count'should not have Desired my 'Kight' don a continuence, under Lha CR 56, Lon "alter" 11-18-19 to pre Cisaly prove with a Declaration from a medicul expent how the detendant's action Les below the Standard of melicul Care for Chest pains and dissipant breatsing The bis question is i whent Lara leaurs it have caused it the Inial Count had granted my lasit motion ton a Cantinuance Lon alten 11-14-2019, Zesishin que days, La provincials how the defendant's desire of medical Cære in the emergency room was in cepplicuble and course be me "bann" or

did the Insul Gount's denices at my Legit motion for a Captinuence Longetter 11-14-19 Dided : The de-Lendunt La Obtain Can Gentuin Sum to une Judgement over my Luicure 10 Lite an intimely declaration from ce possible expent exitness that was only due to be Disclosed 6 '11-18-2019' to prevent like desensansis motton Lon a Summary Judgement trom being granted? To reintenute, pieuse névieus lis Count's opinion to 'attinm' the Trius count's lenduin decision on 10.115 a o to den me le sit motion ton a Continuese Lon allen 11-15-2049 in orden to spent the detendant a Summan Judgemen! Ower the lack 01 a tile been 1 5 11 18 2019 Thurk to wo not he guined lenden a Local <u>Civillène</u>: La be Liled by 11-18-19. Inshad with muting a Deceible Laise and fivisted wonded conden

and the same of th	
and described the state of the	con 10-18-2019 10" Harm" my case
	by or co 11-18-2019, the toin count
	Shows have Skunted my legit motion
	ton a Continuance ton aller 18.18.
والمراقبة والمعلودة والمعلودة والمعلودة والمعارضين الطائدة والمعارفة والمعار	2019 Lo Suve of menitorious. Cuse
renganisan tahungan dalam d	Zesith a declaration from a medical
randsarvinghafulungkildi irandaksi oʻrda (d. 1948 boʻr) birdi oʻrda 1988-irandanandi vu usushi oʻran	expent. To resolvente the Seneral public
Mara geringalin plantungsidan dagai at parki 1994, and marki atlan tan alas khana ma halankan dagai padan	Eville have can interest in this count's de
BAN - Area Berrar selat reposterazione staturo - 1880 filosofic dell'estima (celle celle celle dell'estima cel	Cision fopinion that the Inia Count can
त्मकोत्तर क्षेत्रकार प्रशासन्तर क्षेत्रकार क्षेत्रकार क्षेत्रकार क्ष्याची स्थापनी स्थापनी स्थापनी स्थापनी स्था स्थापनी	<u> Diolute</u> on constitutional Kight Lov
erse beste beste of parking and severe of the second of th	ce Continuence, Lon ce' Sout Cause, in
and a second process of the second se	Order 10 untains 5 runt the detendent
hamandar ayid sarin, madgan dilandah dibiragai ki Vilalanda sakalif 80 Malda atabupun 8 Manadiga sa	a Summary Judgement to cover up the
, white materials, a migrate, principe improperty to state. One is a street manufacture of a grammable	Lact that the detendant's "Lee 212" so t
inating of afficiency of the description highs agricultured and are upting to the design and ping Company	Medical care in the emergency noom
ka ting dian-katanggi sika mangandip makang pangganat hijahap palabadap ulabah, anamban pelikunya baha	Deanly" caused my Death
ومناوية والأختاب والمناوية والمناوية والمناوية والمناوية والمناوية والمناوية والمناوية والمناوية والمناوية والم	
त्रका नाम प्रमुचन ने निर्माणिक विकास क्षेत्र का स्थानित का व्यवस्थान स्थानकार स्थानकार स्थानकार का स्थानकार का	DATED Ihis I with day or November,
enante des recipio de la comita del comita de la comita del la comita dela comita del la comita del la comita del la comita del la comita	2621
ronikan umakandi kuncus sokus sakusindah umakalahkus kutili di yawun sak	By' Minis Thomas Pro-SE Z: Usan 1
the more interested and restricted and activities	
1	MOTEON FOR 13 RECIEW
1	OF THE OILDER DEDYENSE
to of the contract of the cont	MINITED TO RECORSEDERATION

-

.

.

.