FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/31/2022 1:32 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

# NO. 100429-0

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# MINNIE THOMAS,

Appellant,

v.

# SWEDISH MEDICAL CENTER,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Whitney A. Magnuson, WSBA #56041 Amanda K. Thorsvig, WSBA #45354 Attorneys for Respondent FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF ROSENDAHL O'HALLORAN SPILLANE, PLLC 1301 A Street, Suite 900 Tacoma, WA 98402 Ph: 253.328.7800

Email: whitney@favros.com

amanda@favros.com

#

# I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDING PARTIES

Respondent Swedish Medical Center ("Swedish") submits this Answer to Petitioner Minnie Thomas's "Motion for Review of Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration," which the Court of Appeals routed to this Court and is being treated as a Petition for Review.

## II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

In an unpublished September 27, 2021 opinion, Division I affirmed the trial court's order dismissing Ms. Thomas's medical malpractice lawsuit against Swedish after determining that the trial court (1) correctly concluded that the law requires plaintiffs who bring medical malpractice claims to produce expert medical testimony on standard of care and causation, which Ms. Thomas failed to do, *Slip Op.* at 4-5, and (2) did not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant Ms. Thomas further CR 56(f) continuances when she already had received one and when she failed to provide a good reason for her additional continuance requests, *Slip Op.* at 5-7.

On October 18, 2021, Ms. Thomas filed a motion for reconsideration which failed to adequately establish that Division I had overlooked or misapprehended any points of law or fact, RAP 12.4. Division I thus correctly denied her motion for reconsideration on November 4, 2021.

On December 1, 2021, Ms. Thomas filed in the Court of Appeals a "Motion to Review the Denied Motion for Reconsideration," routed to this Court and construed as a petition for review. This petition simply rehashes what she submitted below without providing adequate authority or reasoned argument. This Court should deny Ms. Thomas's petition for review.

Division I properly affirmed the trial court's order dismissing her medical malpractice lawsuit and correctly denied reconsideration of its decision. Neither decision is in conflict with any decision of this Court or the Courts of Appeals, nor does

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Division I's opinion and its decision denying Ms. Thomas's motion for reconsideration are appended.

either involve a constitutional question or issue of substantial public importance warranting acceptance of review by this Court. RAP 13.4.

## III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Did Division I properly deny reconsideration of its decision affirming the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of Ms. Thomas's medical malpractice lawsuit because she failed to produce requisite expert medical testimony establishing a breach of the standard of care or causation?
- 2. Did Division I properly deny reconsideration of its decision affirming the trial court's denial of Ms. Thomas's request for a second continuance because she had already been granted a month-long continuance and did not provide good reason for delay?

## IV. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Factual Background

Ms. Thomas presented to Swedish's emergency department on April 19, 2016, where medical providers noted

"anxiety" as her chief complaint. CP 81. Ms. Thomas claims that was not her chief complaint, and alleges that she was refused medical care at Swedish despite complaining of severe chest pain. CP 2.

In July 2016, Ms. Thomas terminated care with Dr. Weitkamp, her primary care provider at Swedish's Central Seattle Clinic, after a disagreement about release of her medical information. CP 2. On July 25, 2016, the Clinic sent Ms. Thomas a letter, informing her that "we will no longer continue as your physicians at Central Seattle Clinic," based upon "a breakdown of trust in our doctor-patient relationship" after Ms. Thomas decided to transfer her care from Dr. Weitkamp. CP 67. Ms. Thomas alleges that this letter constituted "patient abandonment." CP 2.

# **B.** Procedural Background

#### 1. Trial Court

Ms. Thomas filed her current complaint against Swedish on April 19, 2019, alleging medical malpractice claims based on

the April 19, 2016, and July 25, 2016 events, in addition to libel, slander, invasion of privacy, defamation, and civil rights violations. CP 01-07. Swedish moved to dismiss all of Ms. Thomas's claims under CR 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. *See* CP 14, 17. The trial court granted Swedish's motion as to all claims "except for Plaintiff's medical malpractice claim arising from care received from Swedish on July 25, 2016, and April 19, 2016." CP 14-15.

On September 13, 2019, Swedish moved for summary judgment on the remaining medical malpractice claims, requesting an October 18, 2019 hearing. CP 16-23. In its motion, Swedish highlighted that Ms. Thomas was required to present expert medical testimony that Swedish both (a) breached the applicable standard of care, and (b) caused Ms. Thomas's injuries, CP 17, and that without such testimony from a qualified medical expert, she could not establish the essential elements of her medical malpractice claim. CP 21.

On September 27, 2019, Ms. Thomas moved to continue the summary judgment motion to November 29, 2019, a court holiday. CP 24, 315. She argued that she needed additional time to "keep trying to retain an attorney and to obtain the 'crucial' information," for her claims. CP 25, 315. As an exhibit to her motion, Ms. Thomas attached a "Recovery Request" addressed to Swedish's counsel, seeking various entries from her medical records. CP 29. Swedish opposed the motion for continuance, arguing that there was no good cause to continue because Ms. Thomas already had her medical records, CP 303, and noting that many of her requests for records bore no relation to the only two remaining medical negligence claims, CP 304.

On October 9, 2019, Ms. Thomas filed a declaration and another request to continue the summary judgment hearing, CP 39-58, this time to December 30, 2019, *see* CP 55-62. Relying upon the deadline for disclosure of possible witnesses set in the case schedule the trial court had issued under the local rules, CP

46, she argued that she was entitled to more time because she had "until November 18<sup>th</sup> 2019" to disclose a medical expert, CP 43.

Also on October 9, 2019, Ms. Thomas filed an opposition to the summary judgment motion, CP 59-81, arguing that, because she had "until November 18<sup>th</sup> 2019" to disclose a medical expert under the case schedule, the motion should be denied. CP 59-60, 62.

On October 17, 2019, the day before the scheduled summary judgment hearing, Ms. Thomas filed a reply in support of her motion for a continuance, CP 175-80, several of her own declarations, CP 126-128, 155-57, 137-39, and a "motion for perjury," CP 185-87, all alleging that Swedish's counsel had deceived the trial court in its opposition to Ms. Thomas's request for a continuance. Specifically, Ms. Thomas alleged that defense counsel had misled the court by stating that Ms. Thomas already had copies of her medical records. CP 151, 162, 180. Yet at the time Ms. Thomas made this allegation, she had already filed with the trial court multiple pages from her medical records as exhibits

to her other pleadings. CP 67, 81, 101-102, 116, 319. On the copies of those pages, Ms. Thomas made her own handwritten interlineations, to show her disagreement with what was stated in those medical records. *Id*.

At the hearing on October 18, 2019, the trial court granted Ms. Thomas's request for a continuance. CP 188-189. In its order, the trial court made clear that if Ms. Thomas should "fail to file her expert's declaration by November 18, 2019, there will be no further oral argument and this Court will grant defendant's motion for summary judgment." CP 189. The court set November 21, 2019, as the date for the continuation of the summary judgment hearing should Ms. Thomas file an expert's declaration by the court's deadline of November 18, 2019. *Id.* 

Ms. Thomas did not file an expert declaration. Instead, on October 24, 2019, she filed her own declaration, attaching copies of her previous October 9, 2019 motion for a continuance to December 30, 2019. CP 191-98; *see* CP 42-43, 55.

On November 15, 2019, Ms. Thomas filed a "Disclosure of Possible Primary Witnesses." CP 212-14, listing as a "Primary Witness" her son, Lawrence Williams, and as a "Possible Expert Witness" Arthur Hedley, MD. CP 213. Although she listed Dr. Hedley as a "Possible Expert Witness," she did not file a declaration from him or otherwise describe his expected testimony. *See* CP 212-14.

On November 20, 2019, two days after the court's deadline to file an expert declaration in response to the summary judgment motion, Ms. Thomas filed a motion to compel discovery, CP 215-16, accompanied by her own declaration, CP 221-22, and two exhibits: a list of requested discovery, CP 223-28, and a printout of CR 26, CP 229-31.

On November 22, 2019, the trial court granted Swedish's summary judgment motion. CP 321-23. In its order, the trial court noted that: "Plaintiff was supposed to submit a declaration from a medical expert by November 18, 2019. The Court informed plaintiff that it would grant defendant's motion for

summary judgment if she failed to do so. She has failed to do so." CP 322.

On December 19, 2019, Ms. Thomas filed her notice of appeal from the order granting Swedish's motion for summary judgment. CP 324-29.

Meanwhile, on December 29, 2019, Ms. Thomas filed, albeit untimely, a motion for reconsideration, arguing that she should have been allowed more time to obtain an expert declaration because, she asserted, Swedish had not answered her discovery request for her medical records. CP 232-33, 239-44. In a detailed order, the trial court denied the motion for reconsideration both as untimely and on its merits. CP 314-320. The trial court explained that Ms. Thomas had not raised her need for discovery at the October 18, 2019 summary judgment hearing. CP 318. Nor had she provided good cause for failing to obtain her medical records earlier, identified the evidence that would be obtained from those records, or explained how those medical records would raise a genuine issue of material fact. *Id.* 

The court noted that Ms. Thomas had at least some of her medical records, because she had previously filed copies of pages from them. *Id.* Finally, although Ms. Thomas argued she should have been given until November 29, 2019, to obtain an expert's declaration, Ms. Thomas never produced an expert's declaration in support of her claims. *Id.* Because the trial court denied her reconsideration request, Ms. Thomas pursued an appeal.

# 2. Appeal

Following many delays and extensions in the appeal, Ms. Thomas filed her opening appellate brief on March 17, 2021, contending that the trial court erred in denying her further CR 56(f) continuances and in granting Swedish summary judgment dismissal of her lawsuit against it. After Swedish filed its brief, and Ms. Thomas submitted her reply, Division I of the Court of Appeals determined that it would decide the appeal without oral argument on September 16, 2021.

On September 27, 2021, Division I issued a unanimous seven-page unpublished opinion affirming the dismissal of Ms. Thomas's lawsuit:

Because the evidence presented on summary judgment failed to establish genuine issues of material fact whether Swedish Hospital breached the standard of care or how the alleged breach proximately caused Thomas any injury, summary judgment was proper. And because the court granted Thomas a one-month continuance to obtain evidence substantiating her medical malpractice claims, the court did not abuse its discretion in denying Thomas an additional continuance.

Therefore, we affirm.

Slip Op. at 1.

On October 18, 2021, Ms. Thomas filed a motion for reconsideration, rehashing the arguments made in her appellate brief. She also concurrently, and without support, filed a motion to publish Division I's opinion. The Court of Appeals denied both motions on November 4, 2021.

On December 1, 2021, Ms. Thomas filed in Division I a "Motion to Review the Denied Motion for Reconsideration," routed to this Court and construed as a petition for review, and a

"Motion to Review the Decision not to Publish the Decision/Opinion, also routed to this Court and construed as a motion for discretionary review, an answer to which Swedish is filing separately.

## V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

In her petition, Ms. Thomas seeks review only of Division I's decision denying her motion for reconsideration, not its underlying opinion affirming the summary judgment. RAP 12.4 requires a party moving for reconsideration of a decision terminating review to "state with particularity the points of law or fact which the moving party contends the court has overlooked or misapprehended." Because Ms. Thomas's motion for reconsideration wholly failed to meet this standard, Division I's decision not to grant her reconsideration is supported on this ground alone.

Regardless of whether this Court considers Division I's decision to affirm the summary judgment or its decision to deny her motion for reconsideration, Ms. Thomas has also failed to

demonstrate that any RAP 13.4(b) criteria applies. Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court may accept review only under limited circumstances:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Here, Ms. Thomas does not even cite RAP 13.4(b), let alone demonstrate that any of its criteria applies so as to warrant this Court accepting review.

A. This Court should decline review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) because Ms. Thomas fails to support her arguments with pertinent authority or meaningful analysis and because this case does not invoke any significant questions of constitutional law or issues of substantial public interest.

While Ms. Thomas makes conclusory assertions that Division I's decision constitutes a "constitutional violation" and that the public will have a "significant interest" in this case, *see Pet. at 5*, which could be construed as arguments under RAP 13.4(3) and (4), her conclusory assertions are insufficient. The Court should decline review because Ms. Thomas fails to support these assertions with any authority or meaningful analysis and because there are no significant questions of constitutional law or issues of substantial public interest at stake.

This Court need not consider arguments that are not supported by pertinent authority or meaningful analysis. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (arguments not supported by authority); *State v. Elliott*, 114 Wn.2d 6, 15, 785 P.2d 440 (1990) (insufficiently argued claims); *Saunders v. Lloyd's of London*,

113 Wn.2d 330, 345, 779 P.2d 249 (1989) (arguments not supported by adequate argument and authority); *Clam Shacks of Am., Inc. v. Skagit County,* 109 Wn.2d 91, 98, 743 P.2d 265 (1987) (issues not concisely stated); *Van Noy v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.,* 142 Wn.2d 784, 790, 16 P.3d 574 (2001) (issues not raised in the petition for review).

Moreover, "naked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to compel judicial consideration and discussion." *State v. Johnson*, 119 Wn.2d 167, 171, 829 P.2d 1082 (1990). Ms. Thomas cites no state or federal constitutional provision that she believes was violated. Contrary to Ms. Thomas's claims, she had no "right", let alone any "constitutional" right to a continuance. Indeed, requests for summary judgment continuances are governed by CR 56(f), which provides that a trial court "may," not that it "must," grant a requested continuance:

Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that for reasons stated, the party cannot present by affidavit facts essential to justify the party's opposition, the court **may** refuse the application for judgment or **may** order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just.

CR 56(f) (emphasis added). Parties are thus not entitled to a continuance, much less a second one, as a matter of "right".

Ms. Thomas also contends, *Pet. at 5*, that "the general public will have an interest in this court's decision/opinion . . ." but does not explain how Division I's opinion or reconsideration order will have ramifications beyond the particular parties and particular facts of this case. See e.g., *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (finding a "prime example of substantial public interest" under RAP 13.4(b)(4) where the Court of Appeals' holding, while affecting the parties to the proceeding, "also has the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County after November 26, 2001, where a DOSA sentence was or is at issue.").

Because Ms. Thomas fails to support her bald assertions of constitutional rights or substantial public interest in connection

with Division I's affirmance of the trial court's denial of additional CR 56(f) continuances, this Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(3) and (4).

B. This Court should decline review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because Ms. Thomas does not argue these subsections apply and Division I's opinion and reconsideration order do not conflict with any appellate authority.

Although Ms. Thomas does not appear to argue that this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), to the extent that her petition implies these bases could apply, Division I's decisions are not in conflict with any appellate authorities. Rather, longstanding precedent confirms that expert testimony as to standard of care and causation, except in limited circumstances

not present here, is necessary in medical malpractice cases<sup>2</sup> and that continuances are within the trial court's discretion<sup>3</sup>.

Because Division I's decisions affirming the trial court's grant of summary judgment and denial of additional

<sup>2</sup> E.g., E.g., Keck v. Collins, 184 Wn.2d 358, 361, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015) ("Generally in a medical malpractice claim, a plaintiff needs testimony from a medical expert to establish two required elements—standard of care and causation."); Grove v. PeaceHealth, St. Joseph Hosp., 182 Wn.2d 136, 144, 341 P.3d 261 (2014) ("The applicable standard of care and proximate causation generally must be established by expert testimony."); Young v. Key Pharms., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 228, 770 P.2d 182 (1989) ("[T]he cases uniformly hold that a physician's testimony is necessary in such cases to defeat a defendant's motion for summary judgment."); McLaughlin v. Cooke, 112 Wn.2d 829, 837, 774 P.2d 117 (1989) ("Usually the standard of care must be established by expert testimony."); *Harris v*. Robert C. Groth, M.D., P.S., 99 Wn.2d 438, 449, 663 P.2d 113 (1983) ("Absent exceptional circumstances..., expert testimony will be necessary to show whether or not a particular practice is reasonably prudent.); Berger v. Sonneland, 144 Wn.2d 91, 110-11, 26 P.3d 257 (2001) ("Medical testimony on proximate cause is required in medical malpractice cases.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> E.g., Pitzer v. Union Bank, 141 Wn.2d 539, 556, 9 P.3d 805 (2000) ("We review a trial court's denial of a CR 56(f) motion for abuse of discretion."); Vant Leven v. Kretzler, 56 Wn. App. 349, 353, 783 P.2d 611 (1989) ("The trial court's decision on a motion for a continuance will not be disturbed on appeal absent a manifest abuse of discretion.").

continuances are not in conflict with any decisions of this Court or of the Courts of Appeals, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

## VI. CONCLUSION

Division I's opinion and reconsideration order correctly upheld the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of Ms. Thomas's medical malpractice claims and denial of her request for additional continuances. Because no RAP 13.4(b) consideration applies, this Court should decline review.

I declare that this document contains 3,203 words.